IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DOCKET NO. 85,990 (DCA NO. 93-3025)

FILED

LUCILLE NASH, Petitionev,

SED J. VAHITE

DEC 26 1995

V5.

CLERK, SUPPLY C

WELLS FARGO GUARD SERVICES, INC. OF FLORIDA, Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, First District, State of Florida

COKER, MYERS, SCHICKEL, & SORENSON, P.A.

HOWARD C. COKER, ESQUIRE

Fla. Bar No. 141540

CORINNE L. HELLER, ESQUIRE

Fla. Bar No. 907911 136 East Bay Street Jacksonville, FL 32202 (904) 356-6071

Attorneys for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

In this appeal, Petitioner will refer to itself as Petitioner, Plaintiff or Nash. References to the Respondent will be made as Respondent, Defendant, Wells or Wells Fargo. References to the Record on Appeal will be made by "R." with the appropriate page reference, while reference to the transcripit will be indicated by "T."

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

On February 20, 1992, Petitioner/Plaintiff, Nash, filed a Complaint in the Duval County Circuit Court alleging negligence against Respondent/Defendant, Wells, Fargo. (R. 1-4) Wells Fargo answered Plaintiff's Complaint on March 18, 1992. (R. 14-15) That Answer asserted the following positions:

- A. It (Wells Fargo) is not quilty.
- B. The incident was an unforeseeable event caused by a supervening, intervening, criminal act and is not the responsibility of this Defendant.
- C. This Defendant's rights and duties are prescribed by a written contract and, under the terms thereof, this Defendant owes no duty to the Plaintiff herein.
- D. Plaintiff herein is at best, an incidental beneficiary and entitled to no contract duties.
- E. This Defendant owed no common law duties to the Plaintiff herein to prevent the occurrence and/or apprehend the assailant and, therefore, the complaint fails to state a cause of action against this Defendant upon which relief can be based.

There was no assertion in the Answer of either (a) Plaintiff's contributory negligence or (b) the negligence of any third parties other than the intentional action of the assailant.

Pursuant to the Trial Court's Order of November 19, 1992, setting the cause for trial, the parties were required to file a pre-trial stipulation which contained "...(c) a concise statement of those issues of fact which remain to be litigated;" and "(d) any

proposed amendments to the pleadings..." (R. 133-136) A Pre-Trial Stipulation was filed jointly by the parties in accordance with that Order. This Stipulation and the issues for trial were discussed at the Pre-Trial Conference with the trial judge on May 6, 1993. The Order on that Pre-Trial Conference (R. 271-274) identified the following issues to be tried by jury:

- 11. a. Did the defendant owe any duty to plaintiff?
 - b. Was the defendant negligent in the performance of its duties? If so, did that negligence proximately cause injury and damages to the plaintiff?
 - c. Was the plaintiff negligent, and if so, did her negligence proximately contribute to her injury and damages?
 - d. What are plaintiff's lawful damages?

Additionally, that Order specified that "1. [t]here are no amendments or corrections to be made to the pleadings." After a discussion with Wells Fargo's counsel, on the first day of trial, both parties informed the judge that the contributory negligence of Plaintiff should not be an issue for submission.

Mr. Higginbotham: In the pretrial stip, we inadvertently, being the plaintiff, in preparation of the pretrial stip, included as an issue, plaintiff's comparative negligence. That issue was never pled by the defendant, and Mr. Murray agrees, as I believe that it is not an issue so should not be in the case. (Emphasis added)

Mr. Murray: I agree with that, Judge. (T.5)

After that announcement, the case proceeded to trial on the remaining issues. The negligence of any third parties was still not raised by Wells Fargo as an issue in the case. The case was

tried to a jury during the week of May 17, 1993, some year and three months after the filing of the Complaint.

During the course of the trial, Wells Fargo made multiple objections and representations to prevent certain arguments and evidence which, in Wells Fargo's opinion, would solely impact on the responsibility of Methodist Hospital since Wells Fargo maintained that it owed no duty to Plaintiff. Areas in the record which reflect this include the following:

1. Mr. Higginbotham:...This is a blowup of this sign as we enter the parking garage.

Your Honor, If I may, Mr. Murray: Methodist Hospital's sign. They're not on trial here unless you prove we put that sign up. That's got nothing to do with the price of tea in China, and I think if it comes in, that is a highly there's prejudicial piece of evidence and absolutely no basis for bringing it in. (T. 77)(emphasis added)

From that point forward, Wells Fargo continued to argue that nothing that was done by Methodist should be admissible (T. 77-87).

2. Regarding an evidentiary issue where Wells Fargo wanted to keep their own incident reports out of evidence, Wells Fargo's attorney stated:

I mean, this -- it doesn't go anywhere, Judge. It's just not -- this is all evidence that's directed against the owner or occupier of property. It has nothing to do with the claim against the contract guard service. (T. 134).

¹. The issue of Wells Fargo's duty to Nash was an issue in the underlying appeal. That issue was decided in favor of Nash by the First District. That decision has not been appealed further, and is not an issue for review in the present action.

3. Later, while continuing to argue that Wells Fargo owed no duties to Ms. Nash, Wells Fargo's attorney stated:

...they're trying to strap Wells Fargo with a landowner's duty, you know, to try to truck in various incidents that have been reported in the building and say you should have had more security. That's a great argument made to Methodist Hospital if they were sitting here. (T. 146) (emphasis added).

This was followed by:

Evidence of prior criminal activity is perfectly relevant if you've got a landowner. We don't have a landowner, and that's not our position. (T. 163) (emphasis added)

4. The next day, when an issue regarding documents prepared by Methodist was discussed, Wells Fargo's attorney stated an objection.

It's a relevance objection...It's their own report of their own problems that they prepare for themselves and generate to their internal committee...I don't know what the relevancy is since you're suing Wells Fargo. (T. 198-199)

The Court prohibited introduction of any document created by Methodist based upon Wells Fargo's objection. (T.203)

5. Later in the trial, Wells Fargo objected to questioning Methodist professionals about what information Wells Fargo had given to them regarding security needs and recommendations. Wells Fargo suggested that the information was irrelevant to the issues. The Court sustained the objection and Plaintiff's attorneys were not allowed to inquire into the level of information supplied by Wells Fargo to Methodist. (T. 341-344).

6. When Plaintiff was on direct and testifying about the incident and events that occurred thereafter, Wells Fargo's attorney, objecting to a line of questioning stated:

Judge, I don't really care, why do we care in this trial what representations are bad that Methodist Hospital made? (T. 425) (emphasis added)

After Plaintiff rested its case, Wells Fargo presented its case which consisted of one lay witness. This direct testimony encompasses only four pages of trial transcript. (T. 606 - 609).

On May 20, 1993, after four days of trial testimony, the evidence was closed and the parties, including the Defendant, rested their cases. (T. 612). Thereafter, Wells Fargo, for the first time, raised the issue of Methodist being on the verdict form. (T.615). However, Wells Fargo did not (a) timely raise the issue or (b) present any testimony regarding Methodist's negligence. Additionally, Wells Fargo requested no jury instruction on the issue of Methodist's negligence. (R. 314-329).

Court: ...The defendant's instructions

are pretty much the same. Are there any special instructions?

Mr. Murray: There are no additional

instructions to what

plaintiffs submitted.

Court: ...Were there any other instructions of yours that I'm not giving that should have an

objection registered for the

failure to give?

Mr. Murray: No, sir. (T. 626)

This exchange occurred before any ruling on whether Methodist

should be included on the verdict form.

Later that morning, approximately 1-2 hours after the defense was first asserted, the Trial Court rejected Wells Fargo's request to have Methodist placed on the verdict form and adopted the holding of Messmer v. Teachers Ins. Co., 588 So. 2d 610 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). (T. 627-628). The case was submitted to the jury for a determination of the liability of Wells Fargo, if any, and the damages. A verdict was rendered for Plaintiff. (R. 330-332).

In the appeal that followed, Wells Fargo asserted that the failure to include Methodist on the verdict form was reversible error. Nash's attorneys responded in the Answer Brief that the Trial Court's decision was correct, but for the wrong reasons since the issue of Methodist's alleged negligence was (a) an untimely raised affirmative defense and (b) unsupported by any evidence at trial which would have allowed for apportionment.

In the opinion of April 4, 1995, the First District Court reversed the final judgment in favor of Ms. Nash on the basis that the Trial Court made a wrong selection between the Messmer v. Teacher's Ins. Co., 588 So.2d 610 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) case and the case of Fabre v. Marin, 597 So.2d 883 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1992).

While the decision of the First District correctly pointed out that the Trial Court had sided with the wrong case authority, the Appellee, Nash, had already conceded that issue in the Answer Brief, agreeing that the Florida Supreme Court decision in <u>Fabre v</u>.

Marin, 623 So. 2d 1182 (Fla 1993) had effectively overruled the Third District interpretation of the comparative fault statute as recited in Fabre v. Marin, 597 So.2d 883. However, the Order of the First District, as it stood, conflicted with the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, various cases from all of the District Courts the Florida Supreme Court and, additionally, was misapplication of this Court's opinion in Fabre. These issues were raised in various Motions to the First District clarification and/or certification. Those Motions were denied and a timely Petition for Certification to this Court was made. On November 27, this Court accepted jurisdiction and ordered briefs on the merits raised by Nash to be submitted for review and argument.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision of the First District Court of Appeal expressly conflicts with several well reasoned decisions of both the District Courts and of the Florida Supreme Court, as well as with the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. Additionally, the decision is a misapplication of the law as enunciated by this Court in <u>Fabre</u>. As such, the decision should be reversed and the verdict for Plaintiff should be reinstated.

This case involves the issue of when and how an affirmative defense should be raised. This Court's decision in <u>Fabre</u> did not change pleading and proof requirements. Every District within Florida has recognized that affirmative defenses must be pled and proven at trial. The Florida Rules of Civil Procedure demand it. Notions of constitutional due process demand it. The decision of the First District, in the instant case, conflicts with all of these established principles and should be overturned.

The issue, simply stated, is whether Wells Fargo's failure to (a) raise the affirmative defense in its Answer (b) raise the issue by amendment to the pleadings (c) raise the affirmative defense or alert the Trial Court to its existence at the time of pre-trial (d) request jury instructions on the affirmative defense or (e) reveal the existence of the affirmative defense until both parties had rested their cases, acted as a waiver of the affirmative defense. Nash also asserts that Wells Fargo's continual representation to

the Trial Court that Methodist's negligence or participation were not issues, and indeed requiring that many pieces of evidence be kept out of evidence because of that position, acted as a waiver of the affirmative defense.

Finally, even if it could be said that the First District was correct in requiring a new trial, there are established lines of cases from the Third District which hold that where the issue to be retried solely relates to apportionment of liability, a new trial should only occur as to that division and should not be a retrial of the damages issues. This rule of the Third District results in a furtherance of judicial economy by requiring retrial only on the limited issues where error was found. Additionally, it is more just and protects litigants from having to incur unnecessary expenses. Therefore, the decision of the First District is in clear and express conflict with this expressed line of reasoning from the Third District and should be overturned.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS WAS IN ERROR AND CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL AND THE FLORIDA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE SINCE IT GRANTED A NEW TRIAL TO DEFENDANT/RESPONDENT BASED UPON AN UNPLED, UNRAISED AND UNPROVEN AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE.

A. THE FIRST DISTRICT ORDER DEFEATS THE RULE THAT NEGLIGENCE OF THIRD-PARTIES IS AN AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE WHICH MUST BE PLED BY THE DEFENDANT.

According to W.R. Grace Conn. v. Daugherty, 636 So.2d 746 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994); rev. den., 645 So. 2d 454 (Fla. 1994) and 645 So. 2d 457 (Fla. 1994), the negligence of third parties is an affirmative defense which requires affirmative proof. Defendants are required to give proper notice of affirmative defenses in their responsive pleadings. Pursuant to Rule 1.140(h), Fla. R. Civ. P.:

A party <u>waives all defenses</u> and objections that the party does not present either by motion...or, if the party has made no motion, in a responsive pleading... (emphasis added)

The alleged negligence of Methodist constitutes an affirmative defense. As such, Wells Fargo was required to follow procedural rules of pleading and proof in order to have the issue submitted to the trier of fact. Wells Fargo had several opportunities to accomplish this which included:

- a) Assertion of the defense in the original Answer,
- b) Amendment of the Answer,
- c) Motion to add issue at the pre-trial conference,

- d) Motion to amend pleadings to add issue prior to the start of trial, and
- e) Motion to amend pleadings to add issue prior to the end of trial.

Wells Fargo did not utilize any of these methods. Therefore, the defense was waived when Wells Fargo failed to mention it until after both parties had rested their cases at trial.

The First District has previously recognized these applicable procedural guidelines in <u>State v. Pepper</u>, 155 So. 2d 383 (Fla. 1st DCA 1963). In that case, the petitioner appealed a decision regarding a writ of mandamus which was issued and then quashed. Prior to trial, the parties met with the court for a pre-trial conference. From that conference, the court drafted a Pre-Trial Order delineating the issues to be tried by both parties. After trial, the petitioner argued that error occurred when he was prevented from presenting evidence on issues outside of the Pre-Trial Order. The First District stated:

The foregoing points on appeal call for consideration of issues outside the pleadings and foreign to the issues which the parties agreed should form the basis of the trial as reflected by the pre-trial conference order. Having agreed at the pre-trial conference that the only issue to be tried was whether appellant passed the examination taken by him ...appellant precluded himself from injecting into the trial any separate or different issues other than those agreed upon at the pre-trial conference. The trial court was therefore correct in refusing to consider at the trial any new issues sought to be raised

by appellant, and correctly excluded evidence offered for the purpose of proving issues different from those to which the parties agreed the trial would be confined.

The effect of the First District Order here under review is to nullify the dictates of <u>Pepper</u>. The Order finds, contrary to <u>Pepper</u>, that when the affirmative defense is based upon <u>Fabre</u>, that no pleading requirements apply. The Order finds that it is error to fail to allow the introduction of issues foreign to the proceedings, even if that introduction occurs after the close of all of the evidence.

Additionally, the First District Order nullifies the requirements of Rule 1.200(d), Fla. R.Civ. P., which states that:

The Court shall make an order reciting the action taken at a conference and any stipulations made. The order shall control the subsequent course of action unless modified to prevent injustice.

The Third District Court of Appeals has also applied the above rules to the waiver of an unpled affirmative defense. In Bradford Builders, Inc. v. Dept. of Water & Sewers, 142 So. 2d 137 (Fla. 3d DCA 1962), the Third District reversed an order granting a new trial which was based upon an unpled affirmative defense. In that case, the plaintiff brought an action for breach of contract. At some point in the trial, the entire contract was placed into evidence. The defendant then moved for a directed verdict, stating that the terms of the contract, in evidence, required performance within a specified time limit and plaintiff had not put on any

evidence of compliance. The trial court granted the directed verdict. The Third District reversed. The contract defense was an affirmative defense sought by the defendant, but one which had not been pled by defendant. The Court stated:

An available affirmative defense, if not asserted, is considered waived under 1.119(h), F.R.C.P., 30 F.S.A., unless, though not plead, the issue is tried as provided for in rule 1.15, F.R.C.P.. <u>Id.</u> at 138.

In the present case, Wells Fargo neither pled the issue, nor tried the issue of Methodist's negligence. In fact, Wells Fargo sought to, and was successful at blocking any evidence which mentioned Methodist at trial. Defendant's trial tactics did not evidence a true intent to ever assert or prove the affirmative defense. When affirmative defenses are abandoned in the pleadings and not raised during a scheduled pre-trial conference, they are waived and evidence which would support the unpled affirmative defense may be properly excluded. Sonnenblick-Goldman v. Feldman, 266 So.2d 48 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1972); cert. den., 270 So. 2d 15 (Fla. 1972). When affirmative defenses are abandoned in the pleadings, and not raised until the time of trial or thereafter, they are waived and the defendants are estopped from asserting them at Peninsular Life Ins. Co. V. Hanratty, 281 So.2d 609 (Fla. trial. 3rd DCA 1973). Since Wells Fargo's pleading, pre-trial and trial actions evidenced a waiver of the affirmative defense, there should not have been a new trial ordered based upon a waived issue.

The Third District Court has gone even further in this analysis and in Mevers v. Garmire, 324 So. 2d 134 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975), the court found that it was prejudicial and reversible error to allow presentation of evidence on an affirmative defense that was not timely raised. Ιn that case, the Third District acknowledged that a trial court has broad discretion to modify a pre-trial order regarding issues to be presented at trial. However, the court also found it was prejudicial and reversible error to allow presentation of evidence on an affirmative defense that plaintiff had not been apprised of, nor had ample time to prepare for.

In the present matter, not only did Wells Fargo block evidence regarding Methodist and fail to present any affirmative proof of their negligence, it would have been reversible, prejudicial error of the trial court to have allowed the trial of this issue. Therefore, the First District Opinion which reversed the trial court's denial of a new trial was in conflict with other decisions and in error.

All of the decisions above have applied basic civil procedure rules uniformly to find waiver of an affirmative defense that is not pled or raised by the defendant before trial. The decision from the First District Court in the instant case is in clear conflict since it finds error in failing to allow inclusion of an unpled affirmative defense in the context of third parties on the verdict

form. The rulings of the Third District are clearly the better and more rational rules. They also properly comport with the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure which have been adopted by this Honorable Court.

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