OA 3.4.96

## FILED

SID J. WHITE FEB 14 1996

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OLDER BUPREME COURT

Dy \_\_\_\_ Black

DOCKET NO. 85,990 (DCA NO. 93-3025)

LUCILLE NASH,

Petitioner,

vs.

WELLS FARGO GUARD SERVICES, INC. OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

On Review from The District Court of Appeal, First District, State of Florida

RESPONDENT'S AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

FOWLER, WHITE, BURNETT, HURLEY, BANICK & STRICKROOT, P.A. Attorneys for Respondent International Place - 17th Floor 100 Southeast Second Street Miami, Florida 33131-1101 (305) 789-9200

By: STEVEN E. STARK Florida Bar No. 516864

####

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Nash takes most of her initial brief to address the alleged conflict created by the First District's grant of a new trial based upon the dictates of <u>Fabre</u> and <u>Allied Signal</u>, due to Wells Fargo's failure to assert §768.81 as an affirmative defense in its pleadings. Nevertheless, that argument was never raised in the trial court and, therefore, was waived. Although Nash's brief in the First District raised this matter generally, Wells Fargo raised the waiver issue in its brief. The district court's opinion did not directly address Nash's argument. Thus, there is no conflict to resolve, and no issue to even address. Under the circumstances, this Court should decline to review this issue.

In addition, even assuming that Nash has adequately preserved this issue, prior to this Court's decisions in <u>Fabre</u> and <u>Allied Signal</u>, an employer was absolutely immune from suit by an employee or a third party tortfeasor as a result of any employer negligence causing injury to an employee covered by workers compensation insurance. In this case, Methodist Hospital was immune from suit and as a result no cause of action existed against them that could have formed the basis of an affirmative defense that its negligence was responsible for the plaintiff's injuries.

Further, throughout the course of trial, Nash's counsel was clearly advised of Wells Fargo's position that the alleged duties Nash sought to impose upon Wells Fargo were the same non-delegable duties that the common law placed squarely upon the

premise owner and employer, Methodist Hospital, to provide a safe environment for business invitees and employees. Wells Fargo's counsel consistently argued that when the court determined that Wells Fargo had a duty outside the scope of its contract, which the law simply does not support, then Wells Fargo was essentially held responsible for the same broad obligations of the land owner, which was immune from suit. Accordingly, any and all evidence and testimony that was admitted in the case with respect to Wells Fargo's alleged breach of duty, particularly the alleged failure to supply more than one guard, proved not only Wells Fargo's purported negligence, but indeed more appropriately proved directly the negligence of Methodist Hospital and its fault in relation to the injury. This was continuously reiterated throughout the course of trial, and the continuously expressed its view that the evidence Nash sought to admit and, indeed was allowed to admit, went to the duty of Methodist Hospital and its breach of that duty, as well as the duty the court improperly imposed upon Wells Fargo. came as no surprise to Nash's counsel when Wells Fargo requested, during charge conference, a verdict form pursuant to Messmer, that asked the jury to apportion Methodist Hospital's fault. When that request was made, Nash's counsel did not argue that the issue was not raised in the pleadings or pre-trial stipulation, that the pleadings had not been amended to conform to the evidence, or that the evidence did not support a finding of fault on the part of Methodist Hospital. Rather, counsel merely

suggested that <u>Fabre</u> rather than <u>Messmer</u> was the appropriate decision. He otherwise recognized that Nash's counsel was requesting the verdict in order to "preserve his record" and agreed with the court that the point was a valid one that the court needed to consider by reviewing the two cases. Had Nash preserved its argument the district court could have addressed it. Had the issue been raised, Nash could also have sought to amend its answer and pleadings to conform to the evidence that established clearly the fault of Methodist Hospital. Indeed, given the evidence presented by both sides and the arguments raised, that issue was tried by implied consent and a motion to amend to conform the pleadings to the evidence was unnecessary.

With respect to the district court's decision granting a new trial as to all issues, which Nash asserts is in conflict with other district court decisions that reverse pursuant to <a href="Fabre">Fabre</a> and remand for a new trial on liability only, it is inherently a function of the district courts, which otherwise act as courts of final resort, to determine whether the issues that they address and the errors that they find are so inextricably bound with other issues in the case that a new trial on all issues is required. Although a determination on the <a href="Fabre">Fabre</a> issue does not necessarily affect directly the determination of damages, it is respectfully submitted that the same jury who decides the damages should also decide the liability and apportionment issues and that such issues should be addressed within the confines of the same proceeding. However, if this Court adopts the decisions of

other district courts of appeal and holds that a new trial on liability only is required, then all potential liability and apportionment issues should be tried.

#### ARGUMENT

- I. THE DECISION UNDER REVIEW DOES NOT DIRECTLY OR EXPRESSLY CONFLICT WITH OTHER DECISIONS REGARDING THE GRANTING OF A NEW TRIAL AND CORRECTLY APPLIES THE DICTATES OF THIS COURTS DECISIONS IN FABRE AND ALLIED-SIGNAL
  - A. The Decision Under Review Does Not Announce any Rule of Law Related to Pleading of Affirmative Defenses

its opinion, the first district did not reach any conclusion related to the pleading of an affirmative defense or reject any requirement that the negligence of third parties must be pled as an affirmative defense before apportionment of fault is allowed under <u>Fabre v. Marin</u>, 623 So. 2d 1182 (Fla. 1993) or Allied-Signal, Inc. v. Fox, 623 So. 2d 1180 (Fla. 1993). Despite this lack of any direct mention of a contrary rule of law, Nash asserts that this court's jurisdiction and, indeed, the necessity for this court's exercise of its discretionary jurisdiction is the "conflict" created first district by the decision. Nevertheless, there is no direct and express conflict between the first district decision and any other decision and no reason for this court's continuing exercise of jurisdiction over a question that was never directly addressed. In fact, to the extent that

In order for this Court to have "direct conflict" it must be based upon facts contained "within the four corners of the decisions allegedly in conflict." Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). Further, although the district court decision does not have to specifically identify a conflict with other appellate decisions in order to be "express", it must at a minimum discuss and apply legal principles that are in conflict with other decisions for there to be a sufficient basis for review. See Ford Motor Co. v. Kikis, 401 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 1981).

this issue was ever raised, it was raised only in the district court; it was never made an issue in the trial court. In its answer brief and in response to Nash's motion for rehearing, Well's Fargo specifically argued that Nash had waived the argument being made in this court by not bringing it to the attention of the trial court at the time that Wells Fargo sought to include Methodist Hospital on the verdict form. In fact, rather than objecting to Wells Fargo's alleged failure to raise the issue, Nash's counsel recognized that under Messmer, Wells Fargo had the right to include Methodist Hospital on the verdict and that Wells Fargo had properly preserved its objection to the application of the Third District's decision in Fabre.

The basis upon which this court accepted jurisdiction is not stated in its order scheduling oral argument and this court can review any issue once jurisdiction is accepted. However, it should decline to review an alleged error that was never raised in the trial court and, thus, was waived on appeal. Indeed, if the holding of the First District supports any ruling it supports a finding that, despite Nash's argument on appeal that Wells Fargo waived its defense, that alleged error would not preclude a new trial due to Nash's own failure to preserve the issue below. This is black letter law that has been consistently followed and applied by the district courts, including the First District. Thus, as stated in Abrams v. Paul, 453 So. 2d 826 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983):

it is axiomatic that it is the function of the appellate court to review errors allegedly committed by trial courts, not to entertain for the first time on appeal issues which the complaining party could have, and should have, but did not, present to the trial court.

Id. At 827. Based on this principle, the district court was not obligated to consider Nash's belated argument and, therefore, its refusal to accept that argument cannot form a basis for this court's further review. That rule applies even more to Nash's vague constitutional argument, which was never raised in the trial or appellate court and is raised for the first time in this court. Fleischer v. Fleischer, 586 So. 2d 1253, 1254 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) (citing Sanford v. Rubin, 237 So. 2d 134 (Fla. 1970). Furthermore, the lack of any specific discussion of this issue in the district court opinion under review should preclude its further consideration here.

In Morales v. Sperry Rand Corp., 601 So. 2d 538 (Fla. 1992), this court reviewed a certified question from the Third District Court of Appeal related to the application of Fl. F. R. Civ. Pro. 1.070(j). After answering the certified question, this court addressed the argument that the failure to raise the provisions of the rule in the motion to dismiss waived the grounds for dismissal. In response, this court stated:

This issue was not raised before the trial judge and was not discussed by the district court in the opinion under review. We therefore decline to address this issue. Trushin v. State, 425 So. 2d 1126 (Fla. 1982).

601 So. 2d at 540. In the instant action, Nash has taken the majority of its brief to raise an argument that Wells Fargo

waived its right to apportionment by not timely requesting it in the trial court. Nevertheless, Nash never raised this objection or made this argument in the trial court and that issue was not discussed in the district court's opinion. Indeed, when the verdict form was requested, Nash's counsel agreed that Wells Fargo had preserved the issue and did not argue that it had been waived or that the evidence was insufficient on the issue (T. 616-618). Thus, Nash never objected to the <u>Fabre</u> verdict form on the basis that she now asserts. Accordingly, this court should, as it did in <u>Morales</u>, decline to consider this issue.

# B. Prior to this Court's Decision's in Fabre and Allied Signal the Liability of an Immune Employer Could Not be Raised

Under §440.11, Florida Statutes (1993), a part of the Workers Compensation Act, "the liability of an employer [under workers compensation] shall be exclusive and in place of all other liability of such employer to any third-party tortfeasor and to the employee. . . and anyone otherwise entitled to recover damages from such employer at law." Accordingly, although a specific indemnification action might be available by the tortfeasor against a negligent employer causing injury, a third-party tortfeasor would not be allowed to bring an action for contribution, which requires a pleading that adequately alleges common liability. Such "common liability cannot exist where the employer is immunized under Section 44.11(1), Florida Statutes. D.O.T. v. B.E. Whitehurst & Sons, Inc., 636 So. 2d 101, 105 (Fla.

1st DCA 1994) (citing Seaboard Coastline R. Co. v. Smith, 359 So. 2d 427 (Fla. 1978). Accordingly, the exclusive remedy of workers compensation totally immunized Methodist Hospital liability either to the employee or to a third-party tortfeasor absent allegation of egregious conduct sufficient to take the injury outside the scope of the workers compensation immunity protection. As a result, at the time of filing the answer in this case, the assertion of an affirmative defense that Methodist was at fault, as Nash asserts was required, was essentially a defense that could not be asserted and proven because Methodist Hospital was immune from any tort liability and could not be made a "party" to the action. In addition, at the time that the answer in the instant action was filed, there was no requirement that §768.81 be pled as an affirmative defense, which requirement first stated by the Second District in the Dougherty decision. Indeed, that decision was not released at the time the request for apportioned verdict was made. Having followed the law in existence at the time of the action and having properly preserved the request for apportionment prior to charge conference and closing arguments, Nash was entitled to a reversal by the First District properly applying the then existing law of Fabre and Allied-Signal.

**Affirmative** C. Even Assuming That an Defense was Required, Nash Opened the Door to This Issue by the Manner in Which They Presented Evidence On Wells Fargo's Alleged Breach of Duty and Were Fully Aware Throughout Trial that Wells Fargo Asserted That Such Evidence Proved Hospital's Methodist Negligence Fault Rather than Wells Fargo's Negligence.

As can be seen from transcripts of the trial proceedings, throughout the course of trial Wells Fargo specifically objected to any imposition of a duty that more appropriately should have been placed upon Methodist Hospital. As Nash's employer and the owner of the premises, Methodist Hospital had a non-delegable duty, as will be discussed in the sections below, to provide a safe environment to its business invitees and employees. duty, recognized as a matter of law, exists regardless of whether Methodist Hospital hired a guard service to otherwise assist it in complying with that duty. It was Wells Fargo's position throughout trial that the evidence Nash presented was more appropriately directed to Methodist Hospital's breach rather than Wells Fargo's alleged negligence. Indeed, the court recognized on several occasions that Nash's presentation of testimony that more than one guard was required and that other security measures should have been incorporated created confusion with respect to the duty Wells Fargo undertook pursuant to its contract. Under the circumstances, Nash cannot possibly argue that it was not aware of Wells Fargo's assertions or that it was surprised by the request for a verdict pursuant to Messmer. Indeed, it is clear from the transcript of the charge conference that Nash's counsel

was fully cognizant of the request and made no objection to the request on the basis that they now assert is error.

When an affirmative defense is tried by the consent of the parties, than that defense is deemed appropriately raised and can be presented to the jury despite the lack of a proper pleading. This is especially true where a party objecting to the defense itself "opened the door", see Massey-Ferguson, Inc. v. Santa Rosa Tractor Co., Inc., 366 So. 2d 90, 94-5 (Fla. 1st DCA), cert. denied, 376 So. 2d 75 (Fla. 1979). Where evidence of a defense is admitted without objection or, as in this case, evidence that goes directly to an otherwise valid defense is admitted, over objection, by a party later seeking to preclude the defense, then the issue is deemed tried by implied consent and it can be treated in all respects as if it had been raised in the Di Teodoro v. Lazy Dolphin Development Co., 418 So. 2d 428, 429 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), rev. denied, 427 So. 2d 737 (Fla. If such issues are tried by implied consent, it is unnecessary for the plaintiff to even move to amend the pleadings to conform to the evidence under Florida Rules of Civil Procedure 1.190(b) in order for the defense to be deemed validly at issue and submit it to the jury. 418 So. 2d at 430; Flebont, Inc. v. Comoza Int'l., Inc., 281 So. 2d 61 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973); Beefy Trail, Inc. v. Beefy King Int'l, Inc., 267 So. 2d 853 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972); Robbins v. Grace, 103 So. 2d 658 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). Thus, even assuming that an affirmative defense was required, the defense was implied by consent and the court erred in not submitting that defense and allowing an apportioned verdict to go to the jury.

## D. There Was Sufficient Evidence Of Methodist Hospital's Fault to Place Them On The Verdict

with respect to whether or not there was sufficient evidence at trial to show negligence on the part of Methodist Hospital, Nash's position here simply ignores that which Nash must concede — that Methodist Hospital had a duty to provide a safe premises to its invitees and employees. Thus, when Nash claimed negligent failure to post sufficient guards, negligent assignment of the single guard, and general negligence in otherwise failing to secure the premises, those breaches applied equally to Methodist Hospital. In fact, they applied solely to Methodist Hospital, both as a matter of law and as a matter of fact, on this record.

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